SASOP Guidelines on In-Patient Management during the COVID-19 pandemic

Maaroganye K, Thom R, Ariefdien N, Parker J, Tatatala M, Milligan P, Mawson K, Janet L

Developed as a Public-Private Project on behalf of SASOP and the COVID-19 Think Tank

7th August 2020

Introduction:

The "Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus type 2" (SARS-CoV-2) is a single-stranded, positive-sense RNA virus, which belongs to a "new evolutionary branch of coronavirus" that includes SARS coronavirus (SARS-CoV) and Middle East Respiratory Syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV)¹. This novel virus bears responsibility for the current COVID-19 pandemic.

Although most COVID-19 cases are mild, some cases are severe and/or fatal¹. In terms of the pathogenesis of COVID-19 at a cellular level, SARS-CoV-2 binds to angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptors on cells triggering a cascade of viral replication activities and inflammatory as well as immune reactions¹. It is important for psychiatrists to note that ACE2 receptors are present in multiple organs in the human body including the nervous system². So psychiatrists should not regard COVID-19 as a purely respiratory disease but one which may need their attention due to its neuropsychiatric manifestations³.

There is currently no specific and approved treatment for COVID-19 and some of the treatments that have been touted as promising, are not without severe adverse effects^{1,4-5}.

Purpose:

As has been experienced by every healthcare worker in the world, COVID-19 has had a significant and disruptive impact on health care systems. At the same time, non-COVID-19 illnesses and disorders have continued to emerge unabated. Some conditions such as psychiatric disorders may even experience higher incidence rates due to the psychological and economic impact of the pandemic. As the general population develops psychiatric disorders and previously stable patients relapse, psychiatrists need to be prepared to deal with increasing numbers of people requiring psychiatric intervention. In addition, frontline healthcare workers may wilt under the pressure of working in this strenuous environment and need psychological support too. Furthermore, psychiatrists may find themselves on the frontline as they attend to psychiatric patients with COVID-19 or COVID-19 patients who developed psychiatric symptoms. Like all healthcare workers, they will often be filled with trepidation as they dutifully attend to these patients.

These guidelines are aimed at alleviating anticipatory anxiety clinicians and facility managers may experience when dealing with COVID-19 related clinical and operational situations. They provide the most reasonable advice on these issues given the available information. No doubt these guidelines may need to be updated as and when pertinent information emerges, but psychiatrists may still find them relevant and useful to their patient and facility management decisions during the pandemic.

Methods:

Pubmed and ScienceDirect electronic databases were searched using several key words including "COVID-19", "psychiatry", mental health", "psychiatric hospitals", psychotropic drugs", "screening", "testing" and "viral load", in various combinations. Forty-seven articles were selected to form the basis of this Guideline document. A further search and review of other articles that were suggested by the Pubmed and ScienceDirect algorithms was done to establish their relevance. Additional

articles were sourced from the primarily obtained articles and used if found pertinent. A review of all the articles sourced was done with full knowledge that information and data on COVID-19 is evolving and some of the data used has not been peer-reviewed or undergone systematic review or metaanalysis. It is hoped that further versions of these Guidelines will endeavour to grade the evidence accordingly.

The search was conducted between April 2020 and July 2020. Only articles in English were perused except for two articles in French with abstracts in English. Additional sources of information such as the WHO website, National Department of Health(NDOH) and National Infectious Disease Centre (NICD) websites were utilized for insights into global/local practices and guidelines. The draft document was made available to both private and public sector psychiatrists for commentary, modifications and additions based on their first hand experiences. It has been revised several times as a result. SASOP members are requested to consider this document as subject to further updates as more relevant information emerges.

Contents

1) Screening Policy

- a) General Screening Procedures
- b) Establishment of Close Contact History
- c) Psychiatric Facility Admission of COVID-19 Patient Post-Hospitalization or Isolation
- d) Return to Work for Healthcare Workers after testing positive for COVID-19

2) Testing Policy

- a) Testing Policy Considerations
- b) NICD Testing Policy
- c) Clinical Responsibilities attached to Pre-Admission Testing

3) Systematic Prevention of Infections or Outbreaks

- a) Community-hospital transmission
- b) Protection of Healthcare workers
- c) Personal Protection Equipment Guidance
- d) Prevention and Control of Outbreaks in the Facility

4) Management of Human Interactions within a Psychiatric Facility

- a) Patient-patient Interactions
- b) Staff-patient Interactions

5) Management of a Person Under Investigation(PUI) in a COVID-19 negative area

- a) Post-Test Management of PUI
- b) Post-COVID-19 Positive Test Result Management
- c) Medical Monitoring of COVID-19 patient

6) Care Pathways for Psychiatric Patients with COVID-19 patients

7) COVID-19 related Drug Interactions/Adverse Effects

- a) General Considerations and Limitations
- b) Psychiatric Adverse Effects of COVID-19 "treatments"
- c) The use of COVID-19 "treatment" in Substance Use Disorder Patients

8) Management of High Risk Clinical Scenarios in COVID-19/PUI Patients

- a) Patients with Severe Mental Illnesses
- b) Mechanical Restraint and Seclusion
- c) Management of Acutely Disturbed Patients
- d) Management of Insomnia
- e) Use of Clozapine in COVID-19 Patients

- f) Delirium
- g) Catatonia
- 9) Electroconvulsive Treatment during the Pandemic
- 10) Consultation Liaison Aspects during the Pandemic
- 11) Length of Hospitalization and Leave of Absence
- a) Leave of Absence
- b) Length of Hospitalization
- c) Discharge of a COVID-19 positive patient
- 12) Addressing the Mental Health of Healthcare Workers

1) Screening Policy

There is clearly a need for every psychiatric facility to have a screening policy for patients, staff and/or any other person visiting the facility given the serious nature of COVID-19. Operationally, such a screening policy will enable early identification of suspected COVID-19 cases, separation of laboratory confirmed cases from COVID-19 negative cases and referral of employees/patients fitting the "case definition" for testing^{6,7}.

a) General Screening Procedures

Any screening policy should include the following general screening procedures:

- Sanitize the hands of all staff, patients and visitors entering the facility to ensure adequate hand hygiene.
- Take the temperature of all staff, patients and visitors entering the facility to ensure that their body temperatures are below 38°C.
- Enquire if the person entering the facility is having an acute (≤14 days) respiratory tract infection or another clinical illness compatible with COVID-19^{6,8}.
- Have a broad enough screening questionnaire asking for symptoms such as fever /chills; cough; sore throat; shortness of breath; body aches; redness of the eyes; anosmia and dysgeusia; nausea/vomiting/diarrhoea; fatigue/weakness. This list should not be viewed as exhaustive as it has or may emerge later on that other organ systems can be associated with COVID-19⁹.
- Determine if the person has a close contact history.

b) Establishment of Close Contact History

A close contact is defined as follows⁶:

 <u>face-to-face contact (≤1 metre) or being in a closed space with a laboratory confirmed</u> <u>COVID-19 case for at least 15 minutes</u>. This includes, amongst others, all persons living in the same household as a case, and people working closely in the same environment as a case. Healthcare workers or other people providing direct care for a case, while not wearing recommended personal protective equipment or PPE (e.g., gowns, gloves, N95 respirator, eye protection). A contact in an aircraft sitting within two seats (in any direction) of the case, travel companions or persons providing care, and crew members serving in the section of the aircraft where the case was seated. • The NICD states that "symptomatic cases (of COVID-19) are considered infectious from 2-3 days before symptom onset to 14 days after symptom onset"⁶. Therefore, close contact with a laboratory confirmed COVID-19 case is important to know, "irrespective of clinical signs and symptoms" of the case⁶.

At the end of these procedures, the facility should be able to decide or know whether the person entering the facility is:

- 1) not suspected of having COVID-19 or
- a suspected COVID-19 case any person presenting with an acute (≤14 days) respiratory tract infection or another clinical illness compatible with COVID-19, or an asymptomatic person who is a close contact (see above) to a confirmed COVID-19 case⁸ or
- 3) a laboratory confirmed COVID case

c) <u>Psychiatric Facility Admission of COVID-19 Patient Post-Hospitalization or Isolation</u>

Some COVID-19 patients may need further hospitalization in a psychiatric facility after their medical condition has improved or stabilized. Nevertheless, facility managers still need to consider whether it is clinically prudent to admit the patient to their facility or not.

At the beginning of this pandemic, the WHO's initial recommendation to confirm "confirm clearance of the virus, and thus allow discharge from isolation" was that the patient must have "clinically recovered and had two negative RT-PCR results on sequential samples taken at least 24 hours apart" ¹⁰. Recovery still carries this definition but countries may now choose the option of not requiring retesting to de-isolate a COVID-19 patient from hospital or a quarantine facility¹⁰. This is because some patients have prolonged viral RNA detection and some countries have limited testing capacity. Additionally, recent data has revealed that COVID-19 patients may be less likely to be infectious (beyond 7-10 days after symptom onset) because the viral load starts dropping after this period and there are "rising levels of neutralizing antibodies" in some patients ^{6,8,10-13}.

In the NICD's Guideline for clinical management of suspected or confirmed COVID-19 disease (version 4), the clinical definition of the term "recovered" is not mentioned⁸. Elaboration on why is this is the case is not offered. But there is a set of criteria to assist a facility manager determine if a COVID-19 case was appropriately de-isolated (see Table 1 below). Facilities or psychiatrists may choose to consider this when the patient comes for an outpatient review but this does not mean there will be zero risk of transmission to staff and patients. The patient's behaviour even at the outpatient review may heighten the risk of transmitting SARS-CoV-2 to others¹⁰. The practice of telemedicine will probably need to be utilized to assist and review such patients, if hospitalization has been deemed not to be necessary. As far as admission to the facility from isolation is concerned, facilities need to consider these 2 pointers from NICD and WHO. The NICD acknowledges that even with asymptomatic close contacts "testing may be indicated in certain circumstances (e.g. institutions such as care homes)". WHO also acknowledges that there may be situations in which a low risk of transmitting the virus to "vulnerable groups or those in high-risk situations or environment" (after de-isolation using clinical criteria only) is "unacceptable"¹⁰. WHO advises that "in these situations, and in patients who are symptomatic for prolonged periods of time, a laboratory-based approach can still be useful"¹⁰.

Table 1: NICD and WHO De-isolation Criteria
NICD De-isolation Criteria with Health Minister's update ^{6,14}
a) Asymptomatic patients: 10 days after initial positive test
b) Mild disease: 10 days after the onset of their symptoms for cases of mild disease (this is defined as SpO2 ≥95% and respiratory rate
<25 and heart rate <120 and temperature 36-39°C and no change in mental status)
c) Moderate-severe disease: 10 days after achieving clinical stability (e.g. after supplemental oxygen was discontinued) for cases with
moderate-severe disease
d) Patients who are still symptomatic at the end of their isolation period can be de-isolated provided that their fever has resolved and
their symptoms have shown improvement.
WHO Criteria for discharging patients from isolation (i.e., discontinuing transmission-based precautions) without
requiring retesting ¹⁰
• For symptomatic patients: 10 days after symptom onset, plus at least 3 additional days without symptoms (including
without fever and without respiratory symptoms)
• For asymptomatic cases: 10 days after positive test for SARS-CoV-2
$^{\circ}$ Countries may choose to continue to use testing as positive rest of the relation of the initial recommendation of two positive DCP

*Countries may choose to continue to use testing as part of the release criteria. If so, the initial recommendation of two negative PCR tests at least 24 hours apart can be used.

In making decisions on whether to accept admission referrals or not and where to accommodate them in a psychiatric facility, a few clinical scenarios and circumstances may assist psychiatrists make such decisions.

In one specialist psychiatrist hospital in Maryland(US), psychiatrists would still accept a patient with a repeat positive result (if clinically suitable and warranted) but to a COVID-19 ward to prevent the possibility of infecting others¹⁵.

Angelino et al points out that some patients who have had long periods of intubation or ICU admission (i.e. severe COVID-19) may develop protracted delirium¹⁵. So it may be better to manage these patients in a general hospital or medical unit with a consultant-liaison psychiatrist to assist in the management of these patients¹⁵.

d) Return to Work for Healthcare Workers after testing positive for COVID-19

For healthcare workers returning to work, they ought to have met similar NICD de-isolation criteria⁶.

- a) 10 days after symptom onset for cases of mild disease
- b) 10 days after clinical stability (e.g. after oxygen stopped) for cases of severe disease

Should an asymptomatic employee who was in quarantine, need to return to work on <u>day 8 post-high risk exposure</u> (i.e. to a confirmed case), then a COVID-19 swab test should be done. Otherwise COVID-19 swab testing is not required for return to work.

2) Testing policy

a) Testing Policy Considerations

• As usual, before any test is conducted on a patient, informed consent should be obtained from the patient. Furthermore, information should be provided to the patient on what may happen to them depending on the outcome of the test. The capacity of the patient to give consent should be taken into consideration and if need be, the patient's next of kin may be asked to give informed consent on behalf of a patient with impaired capacity. But in the case of an emergency admission where the next of kin is not available and the patient cannot give consent, reasons for conducting the test should be noted in the clinical notes, e.g. operational policy of the facility, high index of suspicion of a notifiable disease, etc.

- Lower respiratory tract samples would be preferable (as they yield highest viral loads) but these are usually collected from hospitalized or severe cases⁶. In most settings, upper respiratory tract specimens (i.e. a single nasopharyngeal swab) would be acceptable. Alternatively, a single nasal mid-turbinate swab, nasal or oropharyngeal swab can be collected. Clinicians, including psychiatrists, performing this task, should be well trained and protected with the correct level of PPE⁶.
- Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) assays remain the gold standard testing method and has very good specificity^{6,16}.
- But this RT-PCR test is only 66-80% sensitive¹⁷. Possible reasons for the resultant false
 negatives include: poor specimen quality or inadequate methods of material collection,
 inappropriate handling during shipment or storage, collection in the late or very early stages
 of the illness, degradation of RNA, inadequate methods of cryopreservation or quality
 control of detection reagents^{1,6}.

b) NICD Testing Policy

Whilst the NICD acknowledges that "some transmission (of SARS-CoV-2) may occur from persons who are asymptomatic or presymptomatic", the testing criteria is still restricted, except under certain circumstances⁶.

Table 2:	Case definition - who should be tested for SARS-CoV-2?6
1)	Any person presenting with an acute (≤14 days) respiratory tract infection or other clinical illness compatible with COVID- 19. Symptoms to look out for include: cough, sore throat, shortness of breath, anosmia (loss of sense of smell) or dysgeusia (alteration of the sense of taste), with or without other symptoms (which may include fever, weakness, myalgia, or diarrhoea)
2)	An asymptomatic person who is a close contact of a confirmed case (see above for definitions)
Note: As	ymptomatic close contacts should not be routinely tested despite meeting the suspected case definition. However, testing
may be ir	ndicated in certain circumstances (e.g. institutions such as care homes)

Being of a similar nature to care homes and given the current community transmission nature of the pandemic, a large number of healthcare facilities in South Africa have elected to test all new admissions for COVID-19. SASOP would like to have state that this pre-admission testing policy should not unfairly discriminate against those who need emergency psychiatric attention/admission, are without resources or opportunity to have the COVID-19 swab test done and/or speedily receive the results. This is because COVID-19 swab test results can take several days to be known and the patient's psychiatric condition may worsen in the interim.

Of course, <u>it is possible to test the patient soon after admission and this should be considered in low-resourced areas</u>, but the patient will still need to be isolated until the results are known. In fact, it will be prudent to isolate all new patients for several days, regardless of their test results, as the pre-admission test may have been performed in the early pre-symptomatic/incubation stages of the disease or been a false negative.

c) Clinical Responsibilities attached to Pre-Admission Testing

SASOP would like to advise that any pre-admission testing policy does not negate the psychiatrist's responsibility to a patient whom they have accepted to assist in obtaining admission. Alternative containment and/or surveillance measures for the patient need to be taken by the psychiatrist whilst awaiting swab test results.

SASOP therefore makes the following recommendations once a clinician has accepted to admit a patient but is awaiting test results:

- Consider starting treatment (psychological or pharmacological or both) before the patient is admitted. But be mindful that certain psychiatric medication may need preinitiation bloodwork and patients may be reluctant to go to a healthcare facility for blood tests. There is also the added concern around availability of medication in the community¹⁸.
- ii) Refer the patient to a medical facility with consultation liaison services if their physical condition deteriorates whilst waiting at home.
- iii) Refer the patient to a general hospital with a PUI (person under investigation) ward for psychiatric patients or a psychiatric facility with an isolation ward for PUIs, if their psychiatric condition deteriorates further and they still have not received their results.
- iv) If the patient's condition is fairly stable, frequently follow up on the swab test results so that the admission can take place as soon as possible.

3) Systematic Prevention of Infections or Outbreaks

The Guidelines for Mental Health intervention during the COVID 19 disaster (March 2020) speaks about the need to establish COVID-19 committees and have Infection Prevention Control (IPC) Coordinator appointed at each psychiatric facility⁷. SASOP supports this advice and notes that such persons or committees will be responsible for risk assessments and surveillance, sharing of information including protocols and formulating a coordinated response to the COVID 19 pandemic.

a) Community-Hospital Transmission

Apart from the screening procedures and pre-admission testing mentioned above, another way of preventing the introduction of SARS-CoV-2 into a facility, is to encourage the practice of good hygiene in every healthcare worker's home and community. The residences and living circumstances of any healthcare worker can often overlooked as another reservoir of infection¹⁹. Practices such as frequent disinfecting of the healthcare worker's homes, education of the healthcare worker's family or housemates about good hygiene practices, continuation of good hand hygiene practices by the healthcare worker at home or in-transit are critically important. They may prevent the healthcare worker acquiring SARS-CoV-2 in the community and unwittingly spreading it to colleagues and patients.

Further recognizing the possibility of community-hospital transmission, facilities are discouraged from permitting visitation by family/non-essential visitors²⁰. However, a caregiver of an admitted child and a close family member of a patient who is extremely ill, may be allowed to visit but all "visitors should wear a surgical mask and be instructed on hand and cough hygiene, as well as social distancing", according to the NICD guidelines²⁰. Under any circumstances where family visits are not allowed, psychiatrists should still try to facilitate phone or video calls between patients and their families to ease the sense of loneliness or total isolation²¹.

b) **Protection of Healthcare Workers**

Practical steps aimed at protecting healthcare workers from contracting COVID-19 within the facility may include the following ^{17,19, 20,22-25}.

- a) There should be constant reminders of good hygiene and social distancing requirements for **both staff and patients**.
- A limited number of healthcare professionals should be in contact with confirmed or suspected cases of COVID-19. These staff members should self-monitor for the appearance of COVID-19 symptoms on a daily basis.

- c) Discussions may be need to be held on which healthcare worker can be on the front-line or not, depending on their medical risk profile.
- d) Psychiatric Patient's use of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE): Whilst the use of masks may compromise non-verbal communication and affect speech intelligibility of the patient, it is important that patients are encouraged to wear masks all times.
- e) Staff, like patients, are expected to practice these good hygiene measures: frequent hand washing and use of alcohol-based hand sanitizer, correct cough etiquette and respiratory hygiene, physical distancing by keeping a distance of 2 m when in contact with other people, avoid touching the face with unclean hands, perform hand hygiene before and after touching notes, not writing on clinical notes while wearing gloves, covering the clinical notes with a plastic folder which can be easily cleaned and disinfected with alcohol and never spraying gloves with alcohol unless doffing.
- f) Medical devices (stethoscope, sphygmomanometer and thermometers) should be disposable if possible. Otherwise they must be washed and disinfected after being used on each patient (using 70% ethyl alcohol).
- g) Fomite transmission may be a "potential medium of transmission" of SARS-CoV-2 to healthcare workers and patients in a hospital environment. Therefore, frequently touched surfaces (including those in the clinician's rooms) should be disinfected AND the facility should encourage the habit of healthcare workers washing their hands as frequently as possible because they may have inevitably touched a surface contaminated with SARS-CoV-2.
- h) Cleaners in sections with patients with respiratory symptoms should wear the PPE according to the NICD guidelines: surgical mask, apron, long rubber utility cleaning gloves (ideally up to elbow) that can be washed, eye protection (goggles or visor) and closed work shoes.
- i) Ambulance or transfer vehicle personnel transporting suspected COVID-19 patients should wear the following PPE: FFP2 mask/N95 masks, double non-sterile gloves, long-sleeved water-resistant gown, hair cover and goggles or face shield. They should also inform a psychiatric facility ahead of transporting a laboratory confirmed COVID-19 patient to the facility so that appropriate precautionary measures can be taken by management and staff.
- j) SASOP encourages all healthcare workers to adopt a "herd protection" attitude which is aimed at protecting their colleagues and patients in case there may have COVID-19. So should staff members develop any of COVID 19-like symptoms, they should call ahead to their facility or supervisor and declare these so that appropriate action can be advised which may include: not going to work, self-quarantine in a separate room (home or designated hotels) with a separate bathroom for at least 10 days and immediate contact with the NICD through the hotline and/or their GP or nearest clinic. Healthcare workers should also declare themselves as possible contacts based on the criteria outlined above and report this to the facility so that appropriate steps can be taken by management, patients and colleagues.

c) <u>Personal Protective Equipment Guidance</u>

SASOP would like to re-emphasize that "cotton masks are not indicated for clinical healthcare work because of limited filtration and protection against droplets or splashes' as per the NICD guidelines ²⁰. But when in public or using public transport, patients, clinical and non-clinical staff may wear cloth masks. Non-clinical staff may also wear cloth masks when interacting with the public with health facilities²⁰.

From the NICD guidelines, it is stated that for the <u>majority of direct COVID-19 patient interactions</u>, appropriate healthcare worker personal protective equipment consists of gloves, a gown or apron, a

surgical mask and a face shield/visor/goggles. When performing aerosol-generating procedures (e.g. taking nasopharyngeal swabs, performing CPR, or intubating a patient), an N95 respirator should be used instead of a surgical mask⁸.

Training in the **"meticulous compliance with donning and doffing procedures"** is critical to avoid contamination and infection⁸. Below is guidance on the appropriate use of surgical masks and tests to perform to reassure the clinician that he/she is wearing a good quality N95 mask for their protection and that of others.

Table 3: Appropriate Use of Surgical Masks

- Masks should tightly cover the nose and mouth²².
- Staff should avoid touching the masks with their hands. If the mask is touched with unwashed hands, gets wet, gets soiled, or is removed from the face, it will "become contaminated and will no longer provide effective protection. (it) should then be discarded"²⁰.
- The mask should be removed from behind²².
- After removal or if one inadvertently touched a used mask, hands should be cleaned using an alcohol-based sanitizer or washed with soap and water²².
- The disposable masks should be immediately disposed into a red or medical waste plastic or bin²⁰.
- When going on break, the surgical mask must be discarded and a fresh one worn when returning to the clinical area²⁰. Seal tests that should be performed each time a N95 respirator is used²⁰

Negative seal check:

• Coned shape respirator: Cup hands over respirator without excessive pressure. Breathe in sharply. A light collapse of the respirator should be felt with no air leaking in around the face to-face piece seal.

• Duck- bill and V-flex type respirator: Breathe in sharply. The respirator should collapse inwards.

Positive seal check:

• Coned shape respirator: Cup hands over respirator. Blow out. A build-up of air should be felt with no air leaking out around the face-to-face piece seal edges of the device.

• Duck-bill and V-flex type respirator: Breathe out forcefully; the respirator should expand on the exhale.

NICD regards the contents in the Table 4 below as "detailed recommendations for use of PPE" in inpatient settings such as hospital wards, ICU, overnight/holding wards and step-down facilities.

Setting	Personnel or	Activity	Type of PPE or Procedure	
octang	Patients	, contry		
Isolation cubicles, rooms, or	Patients with COVID- 19	Any	Surgical mask	
wards where COVID-19 patients are being cared	Clinical staff	Providing direct care to COVID-19 patients	Surgical mask; apron; non-sterile gloves; eye protection (goggles or visor)	
for.	Clinical staff	Aerosol-generating procedures performed on COVID-19 patients (such as nasopharyngeal and oropharyngeal swabbing for testing for coronavirus infections) N95 respirators are only worn when performing aerosol producing procedures	N95 respirator; apron or gown; non- sterile gloves; eye protection (goggles or visor)	
	Porters and nurses	Transport of COVID-19 patients	Surgical mask; non-sterile gloves	
	Administrative personnel	Administrative staff supporting COVID-19 ward services, who are not usually in direct contact with patients, but would enter the isolation ward.	Surgical mask ; non-sterile gloves; maintain spatial distance of at least 1 metre, where possible	
	Security Personnel	Any	Surgical mask	
All types of wards where	Patients without COVID-19	Any	Cloth mask	
Non-COVID- 19 Patients (i.e. patients who do NOT	Clinical staff	Aerosol-generating procedures* performed on Non- COVID-19 patients*	Surgical mask; apron; non-sterile gloves; eye protection (goggles or visor)	
have COVID- 19) are being	All staff	Any other activity besides Aerosol generating procedures performed for Non-COVID-19 patients	Cloth mask	
cared for	Visitors	Visiting patients without COVID-19	Cloth mask	

Other areas	All staff	Any activity that does not involve contact with	Cloth mask
of the		COVID-19 patients	
hospital			
where			
COVID-19			
patients			
transit (e.g.			
corridors) but			
are not			
directly			
attended to.			

According to the NICD, there is "no evidence that foot or head gear is indicated for protection against droplet and contact precautions and should be avoided". However, in some hospitals, physicians would still advise clinical staff to wear hair and shoe covers. In other hospitals, there have been PPE supply constraints and adjustments to the guidelines have had to be made. Furthermore, some facilities like psychiatric hospitals or units, have unique clinical scenarios which force adjustments to be made to the type of PPE worn in those scenarios. So a system that one specialized psychiatric hospital has been using due to the above considerations, is noted in Table 5 below. It goes without stating that SASOP would still encourage members to always endeavour to have adequate supplies of PPE in order to fully comply with the NICD guidelines[#].

Table 5: Use of PPE in a psychiatric facility where supplies are limited and/or the clinical scenario warrants adjustments #	
Clinical scenario	Level of PPE for clinician
COVID-19 negative patient	
Interviewing patient and administering depot medication	3 ply medical mask and face shield (if they do not have spectacles or googles) plus gloves when administering the depot. Physical distancing of 2 meters should be maintained throughout the face-to-face consultation
COVID-19 positive or PUI patient	Ideally full PPE whilst keeping a 2-meter physical distance, should be worn. But at some centres with limited supplies of PPE, the following may apply
Interviewing COVID-19 positive or PUI patients	Surgical mask, face shield and shoe protection. Physical distancing of 2 meters should be maintained throughout the face-to-face consultation
Physical examination, administration of depot medication or any encounter where restraint may occur	N95 preferably, surgical mask, gloves, gown or apron and face shield
Swabbing (cooperative patients)	Full PPE - N95 mask, face shield, gloves and gown or apron
Swabbing (resistant patients)	Full PPE and team approach required. Sedation may be considered but as a last resort(see management of high-risk patients below)

To note: Several facilities have adopted a zoning strategy to designate high and low risk areas. This will guide the healthcare worker as to the appropriate level PPE that needs to be utilised.

d) Prevention and Control of Outbreaks in Facilities

Psychiatric facilities: With regards to the facilities themselves, Poremski et al states that additional measures, above and beyond standard infection prevention practices, will be necessary in a psychiatric facility setting²⁶. Some of these measures include: reducing the volume of outpatient services; temperature surveillance of inpatients twice daily; sanitizing patient's hands every 2 h in the wards; personal hygiene education for inpatients; patient vaccination program (flu and pneumococcal) and delivering medication out to outpatients by courier²⁶.

For long term facilities like Life Esidimeni centres and residential NGOs, reference can be made to the "Infection Prevention and Control guidance for Long-Term Care Facilities in the context of COVID-19" issued by WHO²⁷. The NICD also has its own "COVID-19 Disease: Infection Prevention and Control Guidelines" which can be adapted to psychiatric facilities especially those with PUIs or COVID positive patients²⁰.

Critical to the aforementioned NICD's guidelines is that "confirmed or suspected patients with COVID-19 not requiring ICU care should be accommodated either in a single room or in cohort isolation"²⁰. SASOP equally insists that there should be no intermixing of COVID positive/ PUIs and COVID 19 negative in one ward, unless they can be managed in <u>separate cubicles or isolation rooms</u>. If the latter is not feasible, then such patients should be managed in a designated medical ward and be managed as part of consultation liaison services or transferred to another psychiatric unit where separation is possible.

An example of such an ideal separation plan would be: 1) COVID-19 negative ward 2) COVID-19 positive ward 3) PUI ward 4) COVID-19 positive ward with severely disordered patients. While the establishment of a COVID-19 ward may take time, creation of a COVID-19 ward needs to be guided by Infection Prevention Control officers as well as the Provincial Mental Health Authorities for certification.

4) Management of Human Interactions within a Psychiatric Facility

The main aim of managing human interactions within a healthcare facility is to stop nosocomial transmission of SARS-Co-V2.

SASOP recommends that fewer physical meetings should be held and online technology/ platforms should be used as far as possible to conduct meetings. Should the need to have face to face interactions with another staff member arise, physical distancing should be practised and physical barriers like glasses, plastic windows, face shields used. Of course, masks should be worn at all times during these interactions. Lunch/tea rooms should be closed, especially if they are in small tight quarters with poor ventilation. Should the physical dimensions of the lunch/tea room be more generously proportioned, physical distance of 2 meters should still be maintained with staggered tea/lunch breaks to reduce occupancy.

a) **Patient-patient interactions**

Certain measures such as limiting access to communal areas will help reduce patient-patient interactions, but where these interactions cannot be avoided (e.g. mealtimes) the 2-meter physical distancing rule should apply and/or two sittings for each mealtime be held instead. Meals may need to be served on trays especially in COVID-19 or PUI wards¹⁵. Strict physical distancing during group activities should also be practiced or group activities should be cancelled. Should group activities take place, they should be limited to 10 patients per session (especially in dementia-care settings) or as determined by the facility²⁸.

While the above may seem sensible given the circumstances, there is a risk that the therapeutic milieu of the hospital may be lost in the process. Patient may feel isolated from other human beings leading to enhanced or continuous distress or agitation^{18,29}. They may also not be able to obtain the clinical and social benefit of group activities¹⁸. Colleagues from the Oxford Healthcare Trust suggest that some activities that can be performed with the recommended 2-meter distancing should continue as a shared decision taken by both staff and patients²⁹. Examples of such activities include mindfulness/relaxation groups and dancing/exercise groups²⁹.

If all patients in a particular ward have tested negative for COVID-19 and are cooperative, then group activities with restricted numbers can take place. Simple self-propelled activities such as games and puzzles could take place in a COVID-19 ward. But for PUI wards, SASOP contends that the loss of the ideal therapeutic milieu may have to be reluctantly accepted by both clinicians and patients due to the risk of nosocomial transmission.

b) <u>Staff-patient interactions</u>

The facility should preferably request its clinicians/allied professionals to use as much telemedicine as possible to consult with patients even if patients are admitted. Indeed, the one advantage of virtual consultations is that they make it possible to have engagements with a patient without wearing masks, which will allow both the patient and psychiatrist to see each other's full facial expressions¹⁵. Still, there are technical and accessibility issues to contend with when it comes to telemedicine. Additionally, under certain clinical scenarios and/or if preferred by the patient, **face-to-face interaction with patients will still be necessary for assessment and treatment purposes.** Ward rounds can be adjusted so that face-to-face interaction is restricted to the patient and psychiatrist whilst the rest of the team joins via a video link¹⁵

SASOP therefore reminds psychiatrists that face-to-face consultations may still be required under certain circumstances and perhaps the duration and manner of the consultations can be adjusted in lieu of its total absence.

5) Management of a Person Under Investigation (PUI) in a COVID-19 negative area

Clinical scenario	Location	Primary clinical attendant and focus of management	Conduct of patient's management
A PUI is a patient who has had contact with a confirmed COVID-19 patient or is displaying signs and symptoms of probable COVID-19. Prior to this taking place, the facility management should have informed all staff what to do should such a scenario arise - essentially what is the policy of the facility in this regard. There should be a greater reliance on effective communication with the patient who may need to be isolated instead of immediately relying on coercive methods.	Assuming that psychiatric care is still required based on risk factors, the patient needs to remain in a psychiatric facility but needs to be moved to an COVID 19 PUI isolation ward within a psychiatric hospital. They should remain in a psychiatric facility only if the psychiatric risk outweighs the medical risk at the time of assessment. It should be noted that this risk assessment should be done daily or twice a day until the patient is discharged. * Should the patient physically deteriorate, then they should be transferred to a medical facility where the practice of consultation liaison would come into play.	MDT including psychiatrists AND General Practitioner or Medical Officer <u>Main focus of management –</u> <u>mental health care and</u> <u>monitoring for COVID-19</u> <u>symptoms/physical</u> <u>deterioration plus following up</u> <u>on swab test results on a daily</u> <u>basis if a COVID-19 test was</u> <u>done.</u> It will be wise to have an arrangement with the local laboratory to have swab tests from psychiatric inpatients prioritized so that results can be obtained within 24 hours ideally!	Telemedicine and/or physical consultation depending on the daily risk profile of the patient The isolation ward should have the appropriate level of PPE available for when the need for a face-to-face interview arises.

a) Post-COVID-19 Test Management of PUI

b) Post-COVID-19 Positive Test Result Management

Should the PUI turn out to have COVID-19, the following course of action needs to be taken:

1) Inform the patient first and counsel him/her about COVID-19 and what steps are to follow now that they have COVID-19.

2) Inform the patient that COVID-19 is a notifiable disease and that a contact tracing exercise of their close and recent contacts (including staff) will be followed⁶.

3) Close the patient's room and/or ward for deep cleaning.

4) Move the COVID-19 patient to a COVID-19 ward OR designated isolation section within the hospital, if the COVID-19 condition is mild, asymptomatic or pre-symptomatic¹⁷. SASOP recommends that every newly diagnosed COVID-19 patient should be discussed with internists/infection disease specialists/suitably COVID-19 experienced GP on the best treatment location for the patient (see below under Section 6)¹⁸. The medical ward in a general hospital has to be "psychiatrically safe" with no ligature points¹⁵ and in turn, SASOP advises colleagues that the COVID-19 ward in a psychiatric facility, has to be medically safe with skilled medical staff.

5) Should the patient remain at the psychiatric facility; he/she should be placed in a room with a dedicated bathroom. There must be negative pressure (at least 6 air changes per hour) in these rooms. If negative pressure rooms are not available, rooms with natural ventilation with sufficient airflow of at least air exchange of 60L/sec /patient can be utilized. If single rooms are not available, patients with confirmed COVID-19 infection should be placed in the same area but beds separated according to NDOH guidelines²⁰. Any shared toilet facilities should be cleaned regularly (2-4 hourly)²⁰.

6) If cohort isolation is not possible, then COVID-19 patients should be managed in a designated medical ward and be managed as part of consultation liaison services or transferred to another psychiatric facility where separation is possible.

7) The clinicians should frequently follow up on test results of the close contacts so that appropriate placement of these contacts can take place as soon as possible.

8) Those who tested COVID-19 negative should still be closely monitored so that emerging COVID-19 symptoms can be detected and the patients re-tested.

c) Medical Monitoring of COVID-19 patient

Even more stringent monitoring is needed for identified COVID-19 patient/s as their physical condition can quickly change for the worse³⁰. In addition, it has not "yet been determined what proportion of mild to moderate cases ultimately become severely or critically ill"^{18,31}.

"Guidance for the Treatment and Management of COVID-19 Among People with Intellectual Disabilities" (Alexander et al,2020) ³⁰	"Ensuring mental health care during the SARS-CoV-2 epidemic in France: A narrative review (Chevance et al, 2020) ²⁴
 Severe shortness of breath at rest; onset of new confusion or worsening of challenging behaviour; becoming difficult to rouse; little or no urine output; cold clammy or pale mottled skin; heart rate >100 with new confusion/challenging behaviour; respiratory rate >20/min; Oxygen SATS ≤94%; Temperature >38° 	 Respiratory rate > 24/min; SpO2 < 95% in ambient air or patient requiring oxygen; dyspnoea progressively or rapidly inflating; tachycardia above basic level; faintness/dizziness; marked alteration of a general condition; somatic decompensation of an underlying somatic disorder
"Design and implementation of a regional inpatient psy (Angelino et al, 2020) ¹⁵	chiatry unit for asymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 positive patients"
 Transfer to a medical bed when the oxygen requirement 	is beyond 2 liters by nasal cannula.

1) Discussion with the receiving facility/internist should occur prior to transfer to ensure availability of the required level of support. ICU beds may be in high demand or in short supply.

2) EMS should be readily available to quickly transport COVID-19 patients to a general hospital should the patient's condition deteriorate.

3) The psychiatrist should be prepared to offer ongoing care and support to the patient in the general hospital as well as offer advice on maintenance or adjustments of medication if need be¹⁵.

Taking the above into consideration, SASOP would recommend that psychiatrists proactively develop a working clinical plan with their local internists or infection disease specialists on how to manage asymptomatic or pre-symptomatic COVID 19 patients in their psychiatric facility. Furthermore, there should be no hesitation to transfer the patient to a general hospital should psychiatrists feel either uncomfortable to manage the patient or feel/observe that the patient is deteriorating to any degree.

6) Care Pathways for Psychiatric Patients with COVID-19

Table 8: Psychiatric triage of COVID-19 patients

	Mild Mental illness	Moderate to Severe Mental Illness	
Mild	*Home if self-isolation possible (after the	Psychiatric facility in a quarantine ward/cubicle	
COVID-	mental illness has ameliorated enough for	/isolation room OR at a general hospital in a	
19	discharge) OR at a non-healthcare	psychiatric ward unit that has a quarantine ward	
	designated facility for psychiatric patients	/cubicle/isolation room depending on the level	
	with COVID-19 (after mental illness has	of psychiatric care required.	
	ameliorated enough for discharge) OR at a		
	psychiatric facility in a quarantine		
	ward/cubicle/isolation room (if further 🛑		
	psychiatric treatment is necessary despite		
	lowering of risk factors)	1	
Severe	General hospital in a quarantine	General hospital in a quarantine	
COVID-	ward/cubicle/isolation room with	ward/cubicle/isolation room with frequent	
19	consultation liaison services being available	consultation liaison services being available for	
	for any psychiatric matters	any psychiatric matters.	

To note: Mild mental illness refers to common mental disorders such as depression or anxiety/early relapse in a patient with a chronic severe mental illness/any mental illness without disordered or risky behaviour.

*For patients treated at home, a verified and psycho-educated support network should be available and the patient's condition monitored.

As can be noted above, the patient's location of treatment can change depending on their medical and/or psychiatric condition. Psychiatrists should be alert to the fact that these changes can happen without much notice. At that point they should be ready to effect the transfer or referral of the patient to the appropriate healthcare facility. Psychiatrists should also be willing to down-refer patients so that beds are made available to those who may need them more urgently.

As a guide to what constitute a mild, moderate or severe form of COVID-19, the following categorization can be considered:

Table 9: Criteria for assessing the severity of COVID-19 ³¹			
Severity	Criteria		
Mild	Minimal symptoms without pulmonary involvement in chest imaging studies		
Moderate	Fever and/or respiratory symptoms; multiple limited patchy shadows and interstitial changes in chest imaging		
Severe	Dyspnea with a respiratory rate of >30 breaths per minute; resting oxygen saturation below 95% or arterial blood oxygen partial pressure/oxygen concentration ≤300 mmHg (1 mmHg=0.133 kPa); multi-lobular disease or lesion progression of >50% within 48 h; sequential organ failure assessment (SOFA) of ≥2 points; pneumothorax and/or other clinical conditions requiring hospitalization		
Critically ill	Respiratory failure requiring mechanical ventilation; septic shock; additional organ failure		

To note: NICD defines mild COVID-19 as = SpO2 \ge 95% and respiratory rate <25 and heart rate <120 and temperature 36-39°C and no change in mental status⁸

The above psychiatric triage should be kept in mind when trying to decide on where to manage a psychiatric COVID-19 patient with the internists. The psychiatrist should try by all means to avoid thinking in terms of where to manage the patient based on the available financial/human/physical resources lest they find themselves in an ethical and clinical quagmire. SASOP discourages such expedience at the expense of standard clinical judgement because of the clear evidence that COVID-19 can be life-threatening.

7) COVID-19 related Drug Interactions/Adverse Effects

a) General Considerations and Limitations

- The information below was obtained from a search process which does not portend to be a
 robust systematic review of the evidence and the data. Furthermore, the authors remind
 clinicians that like with any other clinical scenario, application of literature or research
 information in making clinical decisions should be done with the prevailing clinical and
 patient context in mind. Psychiatrists are also encouraged to seek reasonable opinion from
 experienced colleagues to help them anticipate and prepare for consequences of their
 clinical actions.
- Ostuzzi et al pointed out that the "clinical relevance of drug–drug interaction is difficult to ascertain, considering both the scarcity of data and the multitude of potential co-occurring factors"³².
- Still, and perhaps for the abovementioned reason, SASOP would encourage psychiatrists to consult well-known and recently established but cited drug interactions resource platforms like Drugs.com and Liverpool Drug Interactions Group (2020) respectively. The latter drug interactions resource tool specifically looks at currently used COVID-19 "treatments"³³⁻³⁵.
- Some researchers note that the presence of a problematic drug interaction or cardiac modifying character of a drug does not necessarily mean adverse effects will emerge from the interactions or from the drug. It may depend on the dose of the one or other drug and the clinical condition of the patient^{35,36}.
- Undoubtedly, many possible drug interactions can have serious health consequences, but patients with COVID-19 or without COVID-19 who develop psychiatric symptoms may still need to be managed with psychotropic medication. Without being prescriptive, psychiatrists could note that certain drugs such as Citalopram, Escitalopram, Olanzapine and Valproate have minimal P450 interactions and therefore are "considered to be safe in combination with antiviral drugs"³⁷.
- SASOP recommends that, for now, psychiatrists can study the attached referenced articles for more guidance on how to manage these drug-drug interactions. This is by no means an endorsements of the advice offered by the authors of these articles ³⁸⁻⁴⁰.
- One article addresses the potentially lethal phenomenon of prolonged QT prolongation which can be caused by both COVID-19 "treatments" and psychotropic medications. Chatterjee et al states that if a drug that has a propensity for this serious cardiac adverse effect needs to be used alone or in combination, precautions need be taken³⁹. These include performing a baseline ECG to check for QTc prolongation. They further state that "if QTc is more than 440m Sec in males or 470m Sec in females then there is risk of developing cardiac arrhythmia"³⁹. Where there is concern for this potential risk, Olanzapine and Aripiprazole may be used because they have the least risk for QTc prolongation. They also caution against the use of depot antipsychotics under these circumstances³⁹. SASOP would like to advise that even after a baseline ECG has been obtained, the patient should still be advised to look

out for the following symptoms which may indicate QT prolongation or torsade de pointes: dizziness, fainting episodes, palpitations, irregular heart rhythm, shortness of breath, or syncope³³.

b) Psychiatric Adverse Effects of COVID-19 "treatments"

Even before they were used for the treatment of COVID-19, some of these drugs had the potential to cause psychiatric symptoms.

Table 10: Psychiatric Adverse Effects of COVID 19 "treatments	
Antiviral Therapies	The lopinavir-ritonavir combination can cause bilateral sensorineural hearing loss and depressive symptoms ³⁸ .
Corticosteroids	Depression, mania, agitation, mood lability, anxiety, insomnia, catatonia and psychosis can emerge early on with high doses of steroids ⁴⁰ .
Azithromycin	Delirium has been reported but it is rare ³⁸ .

c) The use of COVID-19 "treatments" in Substance Use Disorder patients⁴¹

The effects of certain legal drugs/substances such as alcohol and Methadone on COVID-19 "treatments" and vice versa need to be kept in mind. Stopping the consumption of alcohol abruptly whilst starting Hydrochloroquine, can lower the patient's seizure threshold. The use of Methadone should be avoided if a patient is on a combination of Hydrochloroquine and Azithromycin due to risk of QTc prolongation and overdose. Lopinavir co-administration with Methadone could result in the lowering of the latter's levels and emergence of opioid withdrawal symptoms. The liquid form of Lopinavor-Ritonovir contains high levels of alcohol, so use of disulfiram needs to be avoided.

8) Management of High Risk Clinical Scenarios in COVID-19/PUI patients

a) Patients with Severe Mental Illnesses who are PUIs or have COVID-19

An occasion could arise when a previously admitted patient with mania or psychosis develops respiratory symptoms or other COVID 19-like symptoms and becomes a patient under investigation. As per protocol, this patient will then be moved to an isolation ward or a COVID-19 ward if positive. These wards are likely to be different to the normal green zone or COVID-19 negative wards that the patient is accustomed to. Apart from some of these patients' fear of having COVID-19, the "change in environment and healthcare workers", can induce stress in a patient with a severe mental illness⁴². One small study in China found increased depression, anxiety and stress scores in a group of schizophrenia patients moved to an isolation ward on suspicion of having COVID-19⁴². Beyond our clinical duty to quickly treat these distressing symptoms, the clinician should be mindful that failure to timeously intervene, may create opportunities for the patient to truly contract COVID-19 or expose others to it.

b) Mechanical Restraint and Seclusion

Mechanical restraint and seclusion are important management tools and their use should not be summarily suspended during this pandemic. **Given that these procedures will inevitably lead to the abolition of physical distancing between staff and the patient, proactive planning is necessary.** As noted above, patient "outbursts" in certain cohorts should be anticipated and efficiently managed ¹⁵. Noting that PPE may not be readily available at the time the nurse or security guard needs them, it is recommended that staff in PICUs (psychiatric ICU) or involuntary units wear full PPE at all times especially when there is a newly admitted and unsettled patient. Security guards should be provided

with more tear-resistant jumpsuits. If there are limited supplies of PPE and a nurse needs to be on the ward for a long time, surgical gowns can be worn at all times¹⁵.

c) Management of an Acutely Disturbed Patient²⁹

As stated by colleagues from the Oxford Healthcare Trust in the UK, we are still in the midst of a pandemic where the "full effects of COVID 19" are unknown²⁹. No systematic reviews or metaanalysis studies have been done as yet on the use of emergency psychotropic medication in COVID-19 patients. But as usual, for any acutely disturbed patient, it is important to first rule out delirium and its common causes like constipation, urinary retention, pain, underlying infections, electrolyte disturbances, hypoxia and medication side effects²⁹. These should be swiftly managed if found.

If the level of disturbance is a risk to the patient and/or others and there are "no signs of respiratory compromise (decreased or increased respiratory rate) cardiovascular disease or decreased level of consciousness, then medication, such as benzodiazepines, can be used with caution"²⁹. Oral medication should be offered as first line sedatives as parenteral medication is more likely to cause dose related side effects including respiratory depression, postural drop, QTc prolongation and extra-pyramidal side effects. The prescriber should be regularly monitored for rapid deterioration in respiratory function and level of consciousness²⁹.

Lorazepam would be the preferred benzodiazepine as it has a shorter half-life. Simultaneous injections of olanzapine and benzodiazepines should be avoided because of the risk of excessive sedation and cardiorespiratory depression²⁹.

SASOP agrees with Luykx et al that "<u>high doses of sedatives are unwanted</u>" and doses of sedatives or hypnotics should be kept as low as possible while the psychiatric and physical condition of a COVID-19 patient is closely monitored³⁵.

d) Management of Insomnia in a COVID-19 patient

This management should start with a non-pharmacological approach. The psychiatrist can begin by addressing any psychological distress that may have caused the insomnia through counselling or supportive therapy. Then CBT techniques for insomnia can be considered if experienced with them²⁹. Advice on sleep hygiene techniques for the patient will then follow. If a hypnotic is still required (i.e. severe, disabling or extremely distressing insomnia), and there is no evidence of compromised respiratory function, the psychiatrist can consider using a benzodiazepine or Z-drug (zopiclone and zolpidem) at a low does for no more than necessary i.e. days to 2 weeks. These drugs should be avoided in the elderly²⁹.

e) Use of Clozapine in COVID-19 patients

Clozapine like COVID-19 can cause fever, sore throat and flu-like symptoms if agranulocytosis develops. If these symptoms are present, an urgent White Cell Count (WCC) is required. Review of the WCC result should specifically look at neutrophil count as "(COVID-19) infection may depress lymphocyte count but does not reduce neutrophils"²⁹. Some authors recommend an additional test for COVID-19 antibodies to further differentiate between the two possible causes⁴³. Furthermore, Gee et al state that should agranulocytosis occur after the first 18 weeks of treatment, then it unlikely to be due to the Clozapine⁴³. Whilst the concern over agranulocytosis is justified, there is a serious risk to discontinuing Clozapine. Nevertheless, if Clozapine toxicity is present or Clozapine levels are increased, the dose of Clozapine can be lowered by as much as half until 3 days after the fever has subsided. Thereafter Clozapine can be increased in a stepwise manner⁴⁴.

The heart is also a target for both COVID-19 and Clozapine as they have both been associated with myocarditis. Therefore, it will be advisable to serially check (weekly for the first month) for serial troponins and CRP during the first month or two of initiating Clozapine in a patient during this pandemic^{43,45}.

f) Catatonia

Given the severity and acuity of COVID-19, there is a risk of catatonia developing⁴⁶. This risk is also mediated positively and negatively by supportive treatment and COVID 19 experimental treatment, respectively. Apart from investigating for the cause of the patient's catatonic state, psychiatrists also need to rule out other serious conditions that can appear like catatonia. Such conditions include hypoactive delirium, neuroleptic malignant syndrome and serotonin syndrome⁴⁶.

g) <u>Delirium</u>

Delirium has unsurprisingly emerged in high percentages of COVID-19 patients (20-30%), especially those with the severe form of COVID-19 (60-70%)³. As delirium is a syndrome, the absence of an obvious or pre-selected cause, does not mean its absence⁴⁷. Furthermore, even if one finds a common cause of delirium, it does not mean another important contributing cause or factor is not present⁴⁷. Table 7 below lists a wide range of contributory factors and causes of Delirium that should be ruled out and managed. There are also factors that are specifically related to COVID-19 listed.

Table 11: Broad differential diagnosis for I	Delirium – Modified from Burns et al ⁴⁷
Predisposing factors in delirium *the presence of these pre-admission factors should immediately trigger a closer watch of the patient as they are at higher risk of developing Delirium	Older age ; visual impairment ; presence of dementia ; functional dependence ; immobility ; hip fracture ; dehydration ; alcoholism ; severity of physical illness ; stroke ; metabolic abnormalities
Precipitating factors in delirium	Presence of narcotics (as discovered on a drug screen test) ; severe acute illness ; urinary tract infection ; hyponatraemia ; hypoxia ; shock ; anaemia ; pain ; physical restraint ; bladder catheter use ; post-surgery
Drugs that may cause delirium *this list is not exhaustive	Cimetidine ; benzodiazepines ; diphenhydramine (e.g., Benylin) ; prednisolone ; opioid analgesics ; theophylline ; tricyclic antidepressants ; NSAIDS ; promethazine ; laxatives ; belladonna containing OTC ; antipsychotics ; buscopan ; furosemide ; isosorbide dinitrate ; warfarin ; codeine ; captopril
Delirium risk factors associated with COVID- 19 ^{48,49} .	Viral infection; fever; hypoxia; co-morbidities; neuro-inflammatory effects (cerebral hypoxia); secondary effect of other organ system failure (metabolic dysregulation); adverse effects of sedatives (especially benzodiazepines and anticholinergic agents); prolonged mechanical ventilation time; immobilization; social isolation and quarantine (contributing to disorientation and lack of awareness in the patient - older adults); older age

SASOP reminds psychiatrists that eliciting delirium in a patient should immediately trigger transfer to a medical facility for further management.

9) Electroconvulsive Treatment during the Pandemic

ECT is an essential treatment modality for patients with severe forms of schizophrenia, depression and bipolar disorder. Often when it is prescribed, it means that a patient is at high risk of physical harm, harm to others and harm to self. **Therefore, SASOP recommends that as an essential psychiatric service, it should be continued during a pandemic and/or lockdown.**

Tor et al (2020) decided to continue the service in Singapore with some modifications to the service ⁵⁰. As always good infection prevention measures were taken including disinfecting the suite inbetween patients from different wards and between each patient. There was a dedicated cleaner to assist with the disinfection procedures. They even adapted anaesthetic equipment to minimize infection risk to patients. Adequate PPE was made available and staff trained in the use of these PPE. Other ECT practitioners pointedly reduced the numbers of persons in the ECT room during sessions⁵¹.

SASOP similarly advises that psychiatrists should consider the manner and frequency in which they conduct ECT so that it does not heighten the risk of the patient contracting COVID-19 from ECT sessions. At the same time, withdrawal of the service for some patients may be equally risky from a psychiatric point of view. For these high-risk patients, a holistic discussion needs to be held with the patient including how their condition will be monitored in the absence of their ECT treatment⁵¹.

10) Consultation Liaison Aspects during the Pandemic

As has been noted above, psychiatric patients can contract COVID-19. This is in part due to their inability to physically distance, wear masks appropriately and sanitise their hands adequately. Furthermore, if a psychiatric patient has co-morbidities like hypertension, cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disease, diabetes mellitus, COPD and hepatitis/liver cirrhosis, then they may be at risk of developing a severe form of COVID-19. Therefore, psychiatrists may need to offer consultation liaison services to their physician colleagues if the former's patient presents to a general hospital or casualty department. The psychiatric condition of the patient will need to be determined and managed. Along with the physician, side effects of psychotropic medication, psychiatric side effects of physical medication and drug interactions will need to be monitored⁴⁰.

Psychotropic medication can also cause physical adverse effects in the body such as drug-induced hepatic injuries and gastrointestinal adverse effects. Psychotropic drugs that have a greater potential for drug-induced hepatic injuries include the following: antidepressants (Amitriptyline, Venlafaxine, Duloxetine, Sertraline, Bupropion, Trazodone, and Agomelatine), mood stabilizers (Sodium valproate and Carbamazepine) and antipsychotics (Chlorpromazine and Clozapine)⁵². Drugs like SSRIs (fluoxetine and citalopram, etc.) can cause gastrointestinal(GI) symptoms like diarrhoea, dyspepsia, nausea, vomiting and abdominal pain⁵³. So psychiatrists may be called upon to have discussions with physicians regarding the continued use of psychotropic medication in a COVID-19 patient, especially if the patient has a poor biochemical liver profile or unbearable gastrointestinal symptoms. But it should be noted that such discussions need to be tempered with the awareness that the act of stopping efficacious psychotropic drugs, may not be based on "evidence-based" data⁵⁴.

Like Clozapine, SSRIs and Valproate can cause lymphopenia, thrombocytopenia and disseminated intravascular coagulation, which may be present in a COVID-19 patient as well. The use of lithium, duloxetine and paliperidone may need to be reviewed in the presence of moderate to severe renal impairment⁴⁰.

11) Leave of Absence and Length of Hospitalization

a) Leave of Absence

Some facilities may elect not to allow LOA but instead keep the patient admitted continuously until they are fit to be discharged. SASOP would recommend this approach. This is due to the risk of the patient acquiring SARS-CoV-2 whilst in the community and possibly transmitting it to others during LOA check-ups. If a patient had to be discharged prematurely for sound reason, check-ups should take place frequently and/or using telemedicine.

b) Length of Hospitalization

Psychiatrists may be inclined to keep in-patient hospitalizations as short as possible but this should not be on the erroneous basis that the risk of contracting COVID-19 is higher in hospital than at home. The psychiatrist should also be aware that premature discharge can lead to dangerous relapses.

c) Discharge of a COVID-19 positive patient¹⁵

Depending on where the patient is discharged to after being in a COVID-19 ward, certain additional actions may need to take place.

- i) Medical ward psychiatrists are advised to develop a clear and implementable plan on how to action this transfer at a moment's notice.
- ii) COVID-19 negative psychiatric ward screening for COVID-19 should continue in this ward as well as good hygiene practices and physical distancing.
- iii) Home for self-isolation or Quarantine facility— the patient should be discharged home with instructions on how to maintain quarantine restrictions if they have not recovered nor met the de-isolation criteria; the psychiatrist should provide as much support via telemedicine and ensure a 1-month prescription is provided to the patient upon discharge.

12) Addressing the Mental Health of Healthcare Workers

As noted above, mental healthcare professionals may also find themselves on the frontline of this pandemic. Therefore, they are as vulnerable to developing emotional distress as their medical colleagues. Some studies have even found psychological distress in a form of burnout in ward staff away from the frontline⁵⁵. This psychological distress can manifest as insomnia, fear, denial, anger, anxiety, depression and post-traumatic stress disorder⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸. There are several factors that could lead to this incidence of distress (see Table 8 below). Managers or senior clinicians should be aware of these factors and try to mitigate against them.

•	Anxiety and uncertainty brought on by the rapid spread of COVID-19
•	Severity of symptoms it can cause in some patients
•	The lack of knowledge about the disease and rapidly changing information
•	Deaths among colleagues
•	Concerns about one's own health and fear of infecting family members
•	Inadequate supplies and poor quality of personal protection equipment
•	Lack of adequate communication from authorities
•	Lack of specific treatment for COVID-19 and shortage of intensive care beds
•	Significant change in one's daily social and family life
•	Feelings of not being adequately supported
•	Feelings of social stigmatization due to being health professionals
•	Overwhelming workload

Even without psychological distress evolving into a diagnosable psychiatric condition, it can still affect the healthcare worker's social and occupational functioning. Impairment can present in various forms including: excitability, irritability, poor clinical decision-making ability, impaired judgement or impaired attention^{58,60,61}. Such impairments can clearly not be afforded by any facility during this time of crisis.

Proactive steps to prevent development of psychological distress, can start off with basic measures such as providing enough PPE, offering resting or quite places for staff and organizing stress-reducing leisure activities^{60,62}. Recognizing staff member's unique home circumstances is important

as these circumstances may place heavy demands on them²³. Regular and frequent meetings not only facilitate communication (which builds trust) but also provide feedback on the performance of the facility as a whole²³. Announcement of good performance measures or achievement points (e.g. no new COVID-19 cases amongst staff for a week) can help staff feel in control and confident in themselves, each other and the facility²³. Communication should also include drawn up protocols, guidelines and infection control plans. These creates further comfort in the minds of healthcare workers as it indicates the facility's preparedness⁶¹.

The above-mentioned activities can be complemented with work-embedded psychological support for staff using the Kubler-Ross framework. This framework uses Kubler-Ross Grief Cycle to recognize the emotions that staff may go through as they experience a disruptive event such as this pandemic. A pandemic that requires individual and organizational changes, just like grieving a loss⁶³. Below is an example of how one specialist psychiatrist hospital in the Western Cape has adapted their psychological support for staff using this framework.

• Allow time and space for teams which will have to deal with potentially infectious patients, to adjust to the new reality and their fear or anxiety.

- Recognise explicitly that such fears are a reality and are not a source of shame but can be useful in enhancing vigilance and energising staff to respond as best they can.
- Healthcare workers should not shy away from the enormity of the crisis and use this opportunity to remind one another that this calls on professionals to respond with the gifts, skills and knowledge that they have as health care workers.
- Managers should continually ensure that team members feel recognised, supported and trusted to do the right thing by take time to check in individually with team members and to allow them to express their fears at the same time reassuring them.
- Recognise that all the mechanisms and defences against grief are likely to arise in all staff members denial, anger, bargaining and depression.
- Managers should show leadership by leading by example in performing what would be expected of staff members.
- Actively demonstrate support for team members when they show initiative or go beyond their mandate, in their efforts to do good, even when this has unintended consequences.

Should clinical staff be unable to adequately provide this intensive and constant psychological support, the services of registered counsellors could be co-opted where they are available or the Healthcare Workers Care Network can be utilized ^{60,64}.

If despite the facility's best efforts, a healthcare worker becomes severely distressed, SASOP wishes to stress that colleagues should be managed like any other mental health care user. As such, they should be urgently seen, psychiatrically triaged, be booked to see a psychologist or psychiatrist, be prescribed psychotherapy/psychiatric treatment and supported until recovery⁶⁵. Application of a full bouquet of psychiatric interventions for colleagues can prevent unpleasant and harmful outcomes of untreated distress and disorder.

13) References

1) Yang CL, Qiu X, Zeng YK, Jiang M, Fan HR, Zhang ZM. Coronavirus disease 2019: a clinical review. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci Year: 2020. Vol. 24 - N. 8. Pages: 4585-4596 DOI: 10.26355/eurrev 202004 21045

2) Cipriani G, Danti S, Nuti A, Carlesi C, Lucetti C, Di Fiorino M. A complication of coronavirus disease 2019: delirium. Acta Neurol Belg. 2020 Aug;120(4):927-932. doi: 10.1007/s13760-020-01401-7. Epub 2020 Jun 10. PMID: 32524537; PMCID: PMC7286634.

3) Subramaney U, AndrewWooyoung Kim A, Chetty I, Chetty S, Jayrajh P, Govender M, et al. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) and psychiatric sequelae in South Africa: anxiety and beyond - review article. Wits Journal of Clinical Medicine, Volume 2 Number 2, Jul 2020, p. 115 – 122. DOI : 10.18772/26180197.2020.v2n2a2

4) Guo G, Ye L, Pan K, Chen Y, Xing D, Yan K, Chen Z, Ding N, Li W, Huang H, Zhang L, Li X, Xue X. New Insights of Emerging SARS-CoV-2: Epidemiology, Etiology, Clinical Features, Clinical Treatment, and Prevention. Front Cell Dev Biol. 2020 May 22;8:410. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.00410. PMID: 32574318; PMCID: PMC7256189.

5) Long B, Brady WJ, Koyfman A, Gottlieb M. Cardiovascular complications in COVID-19. Am J Emerg Med. 2020 Jul;38(7):1504-1507. doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2020.04.048. Epub 2020 Apr 18. PMID: 32317203; PMCID: PMC7165109.

6) Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) caused by a Novel Coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2): Guidelines for case-finding, diagnosis, management and public health response in South Africa, Centre for Respiratory Diseases and Meningitis and Outbreak Response, Division of Public Health Surveillance and Response, National Institute for Communicable Diseases (NICD) of the National Health Laboratory Services (NHLS) and the National Department of Health, South Africa. Version 2.0. Accessed on 24 June 2020.

7) Guidelines for Mental Health intervention during the COVID 19 disaster (March 2020). 5 p. National Department of Health South Africa; 2020.

8) National Department of Health. Clinical management of suspected or confirmed COVID-19 disease Version 4 (18th May 2020). Available at https://www.nicd.ac.za/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Clinical-management-of-suspected-or-acute-COVID-19-Version-4.pdf. Assessed on the 27th July 2020)

9) Elsayed SA, Abu-Hammad O, Alolayan AB, Eldeen YS, Dar-Odeh N. Fallacies and Facts Around COVID-19: The Multifaceted Infection. J Craniofac Surg. 2020 Jul 3:10.1097/SCS.00000000006752. doi: 10.1097/SCS.00000000000006752. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 32649559; PMCID: PMC7382413.

10) World Health Organization. Criteria for releasing COVID-19 patients from isolation. <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/commentaries/detail/criteria-for-releasing-covid-19-patients-from-isolation</u>, published 17 June 2020. Assessed on the 27th July 2020

11) To KK, Tsang OT, Leung WS, Tam AR, Wu TC, Lung DC, et al. Temporal profiles of viral load in posterior oropharyngeal saliva samples and serum antibody responses during infection by SARS-CoV-2: an observational cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2020 May;20(5):565-574. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30196-1. Epub 2020 Mar 23. PMID: 32213337; PMCID: PMC7158907.

12) Zou L, Ruan F, Huang M, Liang L, Huang H, Hong Z, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Viral Load in Upper Respiratory Specimens of Infected Patients. N Engl J Med. 2020 Mar 19;382(12):1177-1179. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2001737. Epub 2020 Feb 19. PMID: 32074444; PMCID: PMC7121626.

13) Pan Y, Zhang D, Yang P, Poon LLM, Wang Q. Viral load of SARS-CoV-2 in clinical samples. Lancet Infect Dis. 2020 Apr;20(4):411-412. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30113-4. Epub 2020 Feb 24. PMID: 32105638; PMCID: PMC7128099.

14) National Department of Health. <u>https://sacoronavirus.co.za/2020/07/17/isolation-period-for-patients-confirmed-to-have-contracted-covid-19-has-been-reduced-from-14-days-to-10-days/</u>. Accessed on 15 July 2020.

15) Angelino AF, Lyketsos CG, Ahmed MS, Potash JB, Cullen BA. Design and implementation of a regional inpatient psychiatry unit for asymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 positive patients. Psychosomatics. 2020 Jul 2. doi: 10.1016/j.psym.2020.06.018. Epub ahead of print. PMCID: PMC7330562.

16) Riccò M, Ferraro P, Gualerzi G, Ranzieri S, Henry BM, Said YB, et al. Point-of-Care Diagnostic Tests for Detecting SARS-CoV-2 Antibodies: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Real-World Data. J Clin Med. 2020 May 18;9(5):1515. doi: 10.3390/jcm9051515. PMID: 32443459; PMCID: PMC7290955.

17) Kakodkar P, Kaka N, Baig MN. A Comprehensive Literature Review on the Clinical Presentation, and Management of the Pandemic Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). Cureus. 2020 Apr 6;12(4):e7560. doi: 10.7759/cureus.7560. PMID: 32269893; PMCID: PMC7138423.

18) Bojdani E, Rajagopalan A, Chen A, Gearin P, Olcott W, Shankar V, et al. COVID-19 Pandemic: Impact on psychiatric care in the United States. Psychiatry Res. 2020 May 6;289:113069. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113069. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 32413707; PMCID: PMC7200362.

19) Cheng HY, Jian SW, Liu DP, Ng TC, Huang WT, Lin HH; Taiwan COVID-19 Outbreak Investigation Team. Contact Tracing Assessment of COVID-19 Transmission Dynamics in Taiwan and Risk at Different Exposure Periods Before and After Symptom Onset. JAMA Intern Med. 2020 May 1:e202020. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.2020. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 32356867; PMCID: PMC7195694

20) National Department of Health. COVID-19 Disease: Infection Prevention and Control Guidelines Version 2 (21st May 2020), p 7. Available from: https://www.nicd.ac.za/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/ipc-guidelines-covid-19-version-2-21-may-2020.pdf. Assessed on the 27th July 2020).

21) Zamir S, Hennessy CH, Taylor AH, Jones RB. Video-calls to reduce loneliness and social isolation within care environments for older people: an implementation study using collaborative action research. BMC Geriatr. 2018 Mar 2;18(1):62. doi: 10.1186/s12877-018-0746-y. PMID: 29499659; PMCID: PMC5833092.

22) Ferioli M, Cisternino C, Leo V, Pisani L, Palange P, Nava S. Protecting healthcare workers from SARS-CoV-2 infection: practical indications. Eur Respir Rev. 2020 Apr 3;29(155):200068. doi: 10.1183/16000617.0068-2020. PMID: 32248146; PMCID: PMC7134482.

23) Adams JG, Walls RM. Supporting the Health Care Workforce During the COVID-19 Global Epidemic. JAMA. 2020 Mar 12. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.3972. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 32163102.

24) Chevance A, Gourion D, Hoertel N, Llorca PM, Thomas P, Bocher R, et al. Ensuring mental health care during the SARS-CoV-2 epidemic in France: A narrative review. Encephale. 2020 Jun;46(3):193-201. doi: 10.1016/j.encep.2020.04.005. Epub 2020 Apr 22. PMID: 32370982; PMCID: PMC7174154.

25) Ong SWX, Tan YK, Chia PY, Lee TH, Ng OT, Wong MSY, Marimuthu K. Air, Surface Environmental, and Personal Protective Equipment Contamination by Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) From a Symptomatic Patient. JAMA. 2020 Mar 4;323(16):1610–2. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.3227. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 32129805; PMCID: PMC7057172.

26) Poremski D, Subner SH, Lam GFK, Dev R, Mok YM, Chua HC, Fung DS. Effective infection prevention and control strategies in a large, accredited, psychiatric facility in Singapore. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2020 Apr 23:1-2. doi: 10.1017/ice.2020.163. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 32321623; PMCID: PMC7200837.

27) World Health Organization. Infection prevention and control guidance for long-term care facilities in the context of COVID-19: interim guidance, 21 March 2020. Available from: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331508</u>. Accessed on 10 June 2020.

28) Huang HT, Chen TC, Liu TY, Chiu CF, Hsieh WC, Yang CJ, et al. How to prevent outbreak of a hospital-affiliated dementia day-care facility in the pandemic COVID-19 infection in Taiwan. J Microbiol Immunol Infect. 2020 Jun;53(3):394-395. doi: 10.1016/j.jmii.2020.04.007. Epub 2020 Apr 13. PMID: 32305270; PMCID: PMC7152916.

29) Oxfordhealthbrc.nihr.ac.uk. 2020. Inpatient Wards – How To Minimise Risk In Mental Health Inpatient Settings During The COVID-19 Pandemic. <u>http://oxfordhealthbrc.nihr.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/2A.-COVID-and-MH_Psychiatric-inpatients_Table-2A.pdf</u>. Accessed 31 July 2020.

30) Alexander R, Ravi A, Barclay H, Sawhney I, Chester V, Malcolm V, et al. Guidance for the Treatment and Management of COVID-19 Among People with Intellectual Disabilities. J Policy Pract Intellect Disabil. 2020 Jun 10:10.1111/jppi.12352. doi: 10.1111/jppi.12352. PMCID: PMC7307021.

31) Shi Y, Wang G, Cai XP, Deng JW, Zheng L, Zhu HH, et al. An overview of COVID-19. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B. 2020 May;21(5):343-360. doi: 10.1631/jzus.B2000083. Epub 2020 May 8. PMID: 32425000; PMCID: PMC7205601. 32) Ostuzzi G, Papola D, Gastaldon C, Schoretsanitis G, Bertolini F, Amaddeo F, et al. Safety of psychotropic medications in people with COVID-19: evidence review and practical recommendations. BMC Med. 2020 Jul 15;18(1):215. doi: 10.1186/s12916-020-01685-9. PMID: 32664944; PMCID: PMC7360478.

33) Drugs.com. 2020. Drug Interactions Checker - For Drugs, Food & Alcohol. <u>https://www.drugs.com/drug_interactions.html</u>. Accessed 2 June 2020.

34) Covid19-druginteractions.org. 2020. Liverpool COVID-19 Interactions.https://www.covid19-druginteractions.org/prescribing-resources. Accessed 19 July 2020.

35) Luykx JJ, van Veen SMP, Risselada A, Naarding P, Tijdink JK, Vinkers C. Safe and informed prescribing of psychotropic medication during the COVID-19 pandemic. The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science. 2020 May 4;1-9. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2020.92

36) Anmella G, Arbelo N, Fico G, Murru A, Llach CD, Madero S, et al. COVID-19 inpatients with psychiatric disorders: Realworld clinical recommendations from an expert team in consultation-liaison psychiatry. J Affect Disord. 2020 Sep 1;274:1062-1067. doi:

37) Zhang K, Zhou X, Liu H, Hashimoto K. Treatment concerns for psychiatric symptoms in patients with COVID-19 with or without psychiatric disorders. Br J Psychiatry. 2020 Jul;217(1):351. doi: 10.1192/bjp.2020.84. PMID: 32270760; PMCID: PMC7190394.

38) García CAC, Sánchez EBA, Huerta DH, Gómez-Arnau J. Covid-19 treatment-induced neuropsychiatric adverse effects. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 2020 Jun 10:S0163-8343(20)30077-3. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2020.06.001. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 32636036; PMCID: PMC7286227.

39) Chatterjee SS, Malathesh BC, Das S, Singh OP. Interactions of recommended COVID-19 drugs with commonly used psychotropics. Asian J Psychiatr. 2020 May 20;52:102173. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2020.102173. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 32446195; PMCID: PMC7239782

40) Javed A, Mohandas E, Sousa A. The interface of psychiatry and COVID-19: Challenges for management of psychiatric patients. Pak J Med Sci. 2020 Jul-Aug;36(5):1133-1136. doi: 10.12669/pjms.36.5.3073. PMID: 32704300; PMCID: PMC7372677.

41) Ghosh A, Roub F, Bisaga A. Drug treatment of SARS-Cov2: Potential effects in patients with substance use disorders (SUD). J Psychosom Res. 2020 Aug;135:110159. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2020.110159. Epub 2020 May 22. PMID: 32464504; PMCID: PMC7242975.

42) Liu X, Lin H, Jiang H, Li R, Zhong N, Su H, et al. Clinical characteristics of hospitalised patients with schizophrenia who were suspected to have coronavirus disease (COVID-19) in Hubei Province, China. Gen Psychiatr. 2020 Apr 20;33(2):e100222. doi: 10.1136/gpsych-2020-100222. PMID: 32420523; PMCID: PMC7204789.

43) Gee S, Gaughran F, MacCabe J, Shergill S, Whiskey E, Taylor D. Management of clozapine treatment during the COVID-19 pandemic. Ther Adv Psychopharmacol. 2020 May 27;10:2045125320928167. doi: 10.1177/2045125320928167. PMID: 32542111; PMCID: PMC7256815.

44) Siskind D, Honer WG, Clark S, Correll CU, Hasan A, Howes O, et al. Consensus statement on the use of clozapine during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Psychiatry Neurosci. 2020 Apr 3;45(4):200061. doi: 10.1503/jpn.200061. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 32242646.

45) Kopelovich SL, Monroe-DeVita M, Buck BE, Brenner C, Moser L, Jarskog LF, Harker S, Chwastiak LA. Community Mental Health Care Delivery During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Practical Strategies for Improving Care for People with Serious Mental Illness. Community Ment Health J. 2020 Jun 19:1–11. doi: 10.1007/s10597-020-00662-z. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 32562033; PMCID: PMC7304659.

46) Caan MP, Lim CT, Howard M. A Case of Catatonia in a Man With COVID-19. Psychosomatics. 2020 May 27:S0033-3182(20)30162-6. doi: 10.1016/j.psym.2020.05.021. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 32605766; PMCID: PMC7251411.

47) Burns A, Gallagley A, Byrne J. Delirium. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2004 Mar;75(3):362-7. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2003.023366. PMID: 14966146; PMCID: PMC1738952.

48) Cipriani G, Danti S, Nuti A, Carlesi C, Lucetti C, Di Fiorino M. A complication of coronavirus disease 2019: delirium. Acta Neurol Belg. 2020 Aug;120(4):927-932. doi: 10.1007/s13760-020-01401-7. Epub 2020 Jun 10. PMID: 32524537; PMCID: PMC7286634.

49) Kotfis K, Williams Roberson S, Wilson JE, Dabrowski W, Pun BT, Ely EW. COVID-19: ICU delirium management during SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. Crit Care. 2020 Apr 28;24(1):176. doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-02882-x. PMID: 32345343; PMCID: PMC7186945.

51) Bellini H, Cretaz E, Rigonatti LF, Conto CDR, Melzer-Ribeiro DL, Busatto-Filho G, Brunoni AR, Gallucci-Neto J. Electroconvulsive therapy practice during the COVID-19 pandemic. Clinics (Sao Paulo). 2020 Jun 22;75:e2056. doi: 10.6061/clinics/2020/e2056. PMID: 32578828; PMCID: PMC7297524.

52) Telles-Correia D, Barbosa A, Cortez-Pinto H, Campos C, Rocha NB, Machado S. Psychotropic drugs and liver disease: A critical review of pharmacokinetics and liver toxicity. World J Gastrointest Pharmacol Ther. 2017 Feb 6;8(1):26-38. doi: 10.4292/wjgpt.v8.i1.26. PMID: 28217372; PMCID: PMC5292604.

53) Drugs.com. 2020. Prescription Drug Information, Interactions & Side Effects. Available at: https://www.drugs.com/. Accessed 3 May 2020.

54) Pan L, Mu M, Yang P, Sun Y, Wang R, Yan J, et al. Clinical Characteristics of COVID-19 Patients With Digestive Symptoms in Hubei, China: A Descriptive, Cross-Sectional, Multicenter Study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2020 May;115(5):766-773. doi: 10.14309/ajg.00000000000000020. PMID: 32287140; PMCID: PMC7172492.

55) Wu Y, Wang J, Luo C, Hu S, Lin X, Anderson AE, et al. A Comparison of Burnout Frequency Among Oncology Physicians and Nurses Working on the Frontline and Usual Wards During the COVID-19 Epidemic in Wuhan, China. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2020 Jul;60(1):e60-e65. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2020.04.008. Epub 2020 Apr 10. PMID: 32283221; PMCID: PMC7151285.

56) Iserson KV. Must I Respond if My Health is at Risk? J Emerg Med. 2018 Aug;55(2):288-293. doi: 10.1016/j.jemermed.2018.04.021. PMID: 29773480; PMCID: PMC7134772.

57) Huang JZ, Han MF, Luo TD, Ren AK, Zhou XP. [Mental health survey of 230 medical staff in a tertiary infectious disease hospital for COVID-19]. Zhonghua lao dong wei sheng zhi ye bing za zhi = Zhonghua laodong weisheng zhiyebing zazhi = Chinese journal of industrial hygiene and occupational diseases. 2020;38(0):E001

58) Kang L, Li Y, Hu S, Chen M, Yang C, Yang BX, Wang Y, Hu J, Lai J, Ma X, Chen J, Guan L, Wang G, Ma H, Liu Z. The mental health of medical workers in Wuhan, China dealing with the 2019 novel coronavirus. Lancet Psychiatry. 2020 Mar;7(3):e14. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30047-X. Epub 2020 Feb 5. PMID: 32035030; PMCID: PMC7129673.

59) El-Hage W, Hingray C, Lemogne C, Yrondi A, Brunault P, Bienvenu T, et al. Les professionnels de santé face à la pandémie de la maladie à coronavirus (COVID-19) : quels risques pour leur santé mentale ? [Health professionals facing the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic: What are the mental health risks?]. Encephale. 2020 Jun;46(3S):S73-S80. French. doi: 10.1016/j.encep.2020.04.008. Epub 2020 Apr 22. PMID: 32370984; PMCID: PMC7174182.

60) Chen Q, Liang M, Li Y, Guo J, Fei D, Wang L, et al. Mental health care for medical staff in China during the COVID-19 outbreak. Lancet Psychiatry. 2020 Apr;7(4):e15-e16. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30078-X. Epub 2020 Feb 19. Erratum in: Lancet Psychiatry. 2020 May;7(5):e27. PMID: 32085839; PMCID: PMC7129426.

61) Nagesh S, Chakraborty S. Saving the frontline health workforce amidst the COVID-19 crisis: Challenges and recommendations. J Glob Health. 2020 Jun;10(1):010345. doi: 10.7189/jogh-10-010345. PMID: 32373323; PMCID: PMC7183244.

62) Rimmer A. Covid-19: give NHS staff rest spaces and free parking not thank yous, says doctor. BMJ. 2020 Mar 23;368:m1171. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1171. PMID: 32205317.

63) Leybourne, Stephen. (2016). Emotionally sustainable change: two frameworks to assist with transition. International Journal of Strategic Change Management. 7. 23. 10.1504/IJSCM.2016.10000308

64) Healthcare Workers Care Network. <u>https://www.healthcareworkerscarenetwork.org.za/</u>. Accessed on the 3rd August 2020.

65) Carvalho PMM, Moreira MM, de Oliveira MNA, Landim JMM, Neto MLR. The psychiatric impact of the novel coronavirus outbreak. Psychiatry Res. 2020 Feb 28;286:112902. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112902. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 32146248; PMCID: PMC7133679.